FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/30/2019 1:01 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No._⁹⁶⁷⁹⁸⁻⁹

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 76376-8-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GREGORY REGELBRUGGE et al.,

Appellants/Petitioners,

vs.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY,

Defendant/Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW OFFICE OF KAREN A. WILLIE PLLC

DAUDT LAW PLLC

By: Karen A. Willie WSBA No. 15902

2212 Queen Anne Ave. N. Seattle WA 98109-2312 (206) 300-3901) 2200 6th Ave. St. 1250

WSBA No. 25690

By: Michael D. Daudt

Seattle, WA 98121-1820 (206) 445-7733

Attorneys for Petitioners

B. Issues Presented for Review.

1. Does statutory immunity for fish enhancement projects extend to the County's involvement in rerouting the Stillaguamish River, a project intended to mitigate landslides as well as improve fish habitat, in the absence of compliance with statutory requirements for assessing the project's public safety impacts?

2. Does riparian law apply to Petitioners' wrongful death claims where three Petitioners owned adjacent river property and the

fourth suffered wrongful death from the slurry caused by rerouting the River?

C. Statement of the Case.

Snohomish County set in motion the Oso Landslide when in 2006 it participated in building a cribwall and moving the Stillaguamish River ("River") to the base of an active landslide, whose base contained three stories of landslide debris. The landslide debris would combine with the River's energy and water from a sediment pond to become a 35-mph three-story slurry that devastated the Steelhead Haven community. The County participated in this project without performing, or requiring the State of Washington to perform, any public safety evaluation required for a project of this size and scale.

The courts below bestowed broad immunity upon Snohomish County for all claims arising from the Oso Landslide, including those based on the strict liability of riparian law and hazardous conditions. *Regelbrugge* at 13-16, 18. The Court of Appeals held the County immune under RCW 36.70.982, reasoning that the County's cribwall project met all the requirements of RCW 77.55.180 as a fish enhancement project. The Court of Appeals also held that Petitioners, whose upland properties were rendered worthless by the changed course of the River, were nonetheless not riparian owners – a new theory advanced by the County for the first time on appeal.

D. Argument Why This Court Should Grant Review.

This case presents two significant issues of first impression. RAP 13.4(b)(4). *See Schmidt v. Coogan*, 181 Wn.2d 661, 670, 335 P.3d 424 (2014) (issues of first impression are the province of the Supreme Court). No court has analyzed the immunity afforded to counties for fish habitat enhancement projects under RCW 36.70.982. No riparian/landslide case in Washington has included a claim for wrongful death caused by rerouting a river.

Division One ignored both the plain language and intent of the Legislature's fish enhancement immunity statute, which was never intended to apply to a massive project to ameliorate landslides and in the absence of any review of the project's scale and scope on public safety. Its decision denying a remedy to the victims of the River's modification is at odds with this Court's decision in *Fitzpatrick v*. *Okanagan County*, 169 Wn.2d 598, 239 P.3d 1129 (2010) and *Richert v. Tacoma*, 179 Wn. App. 694, 319 P.3d 882, *rev. denied* 181 Wn.2d 1021, 337 P.3d 326 (2014). RAP 13.4(b) 1,2.

- 1. Division One Applied An Overly Broad Analysis of Immunity, Violated the Rules of Statutory Construction and Ignored Sound Public Policy.
 - a. Immunities are to be strictly construed, the County's active involvement went beyond merely permitting.

Statutory immunities are to be strictly construed. *Michaels v*. *CH2M Hill, Inc.*, 171 Wn.2d 587, 600, 257 P.3d 532 (2011) ("Statutory grants of immunity in derogation of the common law are strictly construed."); *Plano v. City of Renton*, 103 Wn. App. 910, 911, 14 P.3d 871 (2000) ("The statutory grant of immunity is to be strictly construed."). For example, in *Michaels*, this Court rejected industrial insurance immunity for design professionals working on a "construction project" under RCW 51.24.035, where the negligence occurred in a building in which no construction activity was taking place. 171 Wn.2d at 600.

Division One correctly held that "[w]hether the County's involvement in building the cribwall was sufficient to give rise to liability may be a factual issue." *Regelbrugge*, at 13, *citing Phillips v. King County*, 136 Wn.2d 946, 967-68, 968 P.2d 871 (1998); *Borden v. Olympia*, 113 Wn. App. 359, 369-70, 53 P.3d 1020(2002), *rev. denied* 149 Wn.2d 1021, 72 P.3d 761 (2002). It then erred in granting the County immunity under RCW 36.70.982, because counties are only extended immunity if they have no involvement in the permitting process and do not become a participant in the project as occurred in *Phillips* and *Borden.*¹

This project was authorized under the streamlined process for fish enhancement projects, through use of a Joint Aquatic Permit Application ("JARPA"). Only the State has permitting

¹ *Phillips* and *Borden* are Public Duty Doctrine cases where the municipalities did have regulatory authority, however, they strayed beyond their regulatory role and became participants in the projects. Involvement as a participant takes away the protection of the Public Duty Doctrine in the same manner that participating in this project nullifies any fish project immunity.

jurisdiction; counties do not. Streamlined projects are not subject to any of the statutes that counties administer such as the State Environmental Protection Act ("SEPA") and the Shoreline Management Act ("SMA"). CP 1445. Here, it is for the jury to decide if the County went beyond its regulatory authority and became an actual participant in building the cribwall project. As the extent of the County's participation is a disputed issue of fact, the trial court erred in granting immunity.

b. Violation of the "plain meaning rule."

RCW 36.70.982 states: "A county is not liable for adverse impacts resulting from a fish enhancement project that meets the criteria of RCW 77.55.181² **and** has been permitted by the department of fish and wildlife." (emphasis added). Division One

²RCW 77.55.181 provides, in pertinent part:

⁽¹⁾⁽a) In order to receive the permit review and approval process created in this section, a fish habitat enhancement project must meet the criteria under this section and must be a project to accomplish one or more of the following tasks:

⁽i) Elimination of human-made or caused fish passage barriers, including culvert repair and replacement;

⁽ii) Restoration of an eroded or unstable stream bank employing the principle of bioengineering, including limited use of rock as a stabilization only at the toe of the bank, and with primary emphasis on using native vegetation to control the erosive forces of flowing water; or

⁽iii) Placement of woody debris or other instream structures that benefit naturally reproducing fish stocks.

⁽b) The department shall develop size or scale threshold tests to determine if projects accomplishing any of these tasks should be evaluated under the process created in this section or under other project review and approval processes. A project proposal shall not be reviewed under the process created in this section if the department determines that the scale of the project raises concerns regarding public health and safety.

read the word "and" out of the statute, treating the requirement as disjunctive not conjunctive. All words in a statute must be given meaning and cannot be read in a manner that defeats legislative intent. *State v. Lilyblad*, 163 Wn.2d 1, 9, 177 P.3d 686 (2008). When a statute incorporates another statute, the entire text of that statute must also be given effect. *See C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 708, 985 P.2d 262 (1999).

The statute awarding immunity incorporates RCW 77.55.181, which mandates that "a fish habitat enhancement project **must** meet the criteria under this section **and must** be a project to accomplish one or more of the following tasks." RCW 77.55.181(1)(a) (emphasis added). The "tasks" are set out in subsection (1)(a): (i) culvert replacement; (ii) restoration of eroded stream banks and (iii) placement of woody debris. Id. The next subsection (1)(b) sets out mandatory criteria: "The department **shall** develop size or scale threshold tests A project **shall not** be reviewed under the process created in this section if the department determines that the scale of the project raises concerns regarding public health and safety." RCW 77.51.181(1)(b) (emphasis added). The mandatory word "shall" is used in this statute twice. The statute requires that a fish enhancement project accomplish at least one of three tasks and that it must also have a determination under the "threshold tests" promulgated by the department as to its "size or scale" assuring that it raises no public health and safety

concerns.

The State never adopted any size and scale tests. The State's Regional Habitat Program Manager admitted that from 1998 to 2015 the department did not adopt size or scale tests as required by the legislature. AOB p.19 *citing* CP 2711. Without any tests, a project could not be reviewed "under the process created under this section." RCW 77.55.181(1)(b). The statute goes on to use the disjunctive word "or" extending the size and scale evaluation for public safety to "other project review and approval processes." *Id*.

It was undisputed that no one did an evaluation of size and scale as mandated by the statute. The Program Manager testified it was the fish biologist's job to do the evaluation; the biologist testified it was the Program Manager's job to do the evaluation. AOB pp. 20-21 *citing* CP 2743; 3272-4. In order for the County to avail itself of fish enhancement project immunity, RCW 36.70.982, it had to ensure that there was compliance with RCW 77.55.181.³

Division One acknowledged that the "department had not yet adopted the size and scale thresholds tests required by the statute," (Op. 14), but held the State's approval of the project was itself sufficient for purposes of immunity:

Even if no size or scale tests were in place at the time the Tribe applied for a permit, the department reviewed the cribwall as a fish habitat enhancement

³ In its Answer, the County cross-claimed against the State (§8.7) and therefore has recourse for the State's failure to respond to the Legislature's directive.

project and approved it. The approval of the permit indicates that, in the department's view, the scale of the cribwall project did not make it potentially threatening to public health or safety.

Op. 15. Division One's analysis not only fails to construe the evidence in a light favorable to Petitioners, it wholly ignores the unrebutted testimony of the State's Program Manager and biologist.

RCW 36.70.982 requires compliance with the "criteria" of RCW 77.55.181, which is set out in subsection (1)(b), as a condition for immunity. Division One confused the size and scale criteria of RCW 77.55.181(1)(b) with the enumerated tasks of subsection (1)(a), finding compliance with the entire statute because the JARPA permit recited two of the tasks in subsection (1)(a): "it was aimed at restoring 'an eroded or unstable stream bank using bioengineering techniques' and plac[ed] 'woody debris.'" *Id*. Because the State failed to assess the project's impacts on health and safety, the County was not entitled to immunity.

c. Violation of statutory context and legislative intent.

Division One also erred in holding that the statute "does not foreclose eligibility for a project that accomplishes one of the identified tasks, such as fish habitat restoration, and also serves some other purpose, such as landslide prevention." *Id.* In fact, the project moved the River to the new streambank it created and the River began eroding that bank. The eroded and unstable stream bank was a humanly created problem. The cribwall did not restore the newly created streambank, but allowed very small flooding events to continuously saturate the landslide debris at its base. CP 3115.

At the bottom of the very same JARPA page where the two tasks have checkmarks, there is a warning that "<u>only</u>" fish habitat enhancements are to be covered. CP 245 at 3. But the Program Manager testified that with the dual purpose of the project, fish enhancement and landslide remediation, the cribwall project did not qualify for streamlined permitting under RCW 77.55.181. AOB p. 19 *citing* CP 2726.4

This Court, in employing the "plain meaning rule" has looked at the context of the legislation to give effect to the legislature's intent and purpose. *State Department of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn LLC,* 146 Wn. 2d 1, 11-12, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). Division One did not examine the context or the purpose of the size and scale requirements and the mandatory nature of the legislature's directive to the State that it "shall" promulgate tests to ascertain if the "project raises concerns regarding public health and safety."

⁴ Division One, in effect, added words to both statutes. *State v. Hennings*, 129 Wn.2d 512, 524, 919 P.2d 580 (1996) (words may not be added to statute unless omitted language creates "a contradiction in the statute that render[s] the statute absurd and undermine[s] its sole purpose"). Wherever the words "fish enhancement project" were used, one would have to add "and landslide remediation project" or "and flooding project" or "and whatever other purposes." Division One violated the "plain meaning rule."

RCW 77.55.181(1)(b). It ignored the reason that fish enhancement projects were to be streamlined – to address cross-culverts that were blocking fish passage. AOB pp. 18-19.

This legislation was intended to address a specific problem – the State maintained cross-culverts that damaged fish – a longstanding problem that was recently addressed by the United States Supreme Court.⁵ The purpose section of the statute is clear: "the legislature finds that there are over two thousand barriers to fish passage at road crossings throughout the state...," which should be removed with a minimum of expense and delay. CP 763. The sponsor of the bill, stated that it was for "small scale driveway culverts and the placement of a few pieces of large woody debris." CP 2752. The plain purpose of the statute was to avoid the expense of SEPA and SMA review for each of the two thousand damaging cross-culverts identified by the State.

The use of the word "shall" in RCW 36.70.982 is significant when viewing the discussion of county immunity in this context— "to continue the improvement of culverts which are barriers to fish passage." CP 1470. The March 2, 1998 Senate Bill Report, 2SHB, states that the State "must develop size and scale thresholds," and discusses County immunity with regard to "fish passage barriers."

⁵ See U.S. v. Washington, 853 F.3d 946 (9th Cir. 2017), aff'd. by equally divided court ____U.S.___, 138 S.Ct. 735 (2018). The cross-culverts must be replaced by the State.

CP 1468-69. Testimony supports the intent of the bill to facilitate minor projects, but major projects would "still require the normal approval process." CP 1470.

d. Division One's analysis violates public policy.

The paramount purpose of government is to protect public health and safety. Norco Const., Inc. v. King County, 97 Wn.2d 680, 685, 649 P.2d 103 (1982) ("governments exist to provide necessary public services to those living within their borders and to avoid harms in their protection of the public's health, safety, and general welfare"). The Legislature specifically wrote its concern for public health and safety into the RCW 77.55.181(b). The cribwall project, held out as a remediation measure for landslides, had no geotechnical review – either before the 2006 landslide or afterwards. CP 3132-3139; 3124. The County's landslide remediation project, which included siting a pond with 6.5 million gallons of water at the base of an already notorious landslide, proceeded with no in-house or out-of-house geotechnical engineering review.⁶ Id. Despite moving the River, there was no hydraulic analysis or modeling for the channel changes due to the cribwall - before or after it began to sink. CP 3118; 1093, 1089. Had the Program Manager or the fish biologist conducted a review, they would have

⁶ The pond and its size was never described in the JARPA. It only referred to a "storage area" for sediments. CP 251.

lacked the geotechnical or fluvial expertise to evaluate the project as "also serv[ing] some other purpose, such as landslide prevention." (Op. 15). Division One's expansion of fish enhancement project immunity whenever there is a dual purpose violates public policy because it places fish biologists in an untenable position to evaluate public safety impacts of projects that go far beyond their expertise.

e. The cribwall project was clearly of a size and scale that it violated public health and safety.

At the time of its permitting, the Program Manager testified that the cribwall was the largest project in the State. CP 2750. The JARPA described it as 1,500 feet long and 15 feet high. CP 249. By the time it was completed, the height had grown to 25 feet, or two and a half stories.⁷ CP 44. The five acres of trees that were ripped out by their roots were the equivalent of a parking lot able to hold 2,500 full-sized automobiles.⁸ CP 3068. The capacity of the sedimentation pond was twenty-acre feet. CP 48. The River was moved approximately 300 feet and 10 million gallons of its water would be entrained or absorbed into the landslide. CP 3085. Even without any guidelines, the project was a monstrosity. The County

⁷ The Washington State Archive building on Washington Street is three stories high.

⁸ As of 2009, the West Campus of the Capital Campus, which includes the Temple Lot of 111 automobile spaces, has a total of only 1,766 spaces. *See* Washington State Capital Campus Study, April 2009, Shea, Carr & Jewell Inc., p. 9.

received and reviewed the JARPA detailing its size and scale. CP 2723;1446.

By 2012, there still were no adopted guidelines, although three versions existed. CP 3244. A State fish biologist warned the Program Manager that the more lenient 2012 guidelines carried too much risk for landowners and the river. Id. She stated it was especially true if the project contained "100 pieces of wood or remove[d]1000 cubic feet of sediment." Id. It was "clear" to her that Snohomish County and the tribes "are the groups pushing for these revised [2012] guidelines because they have tried to get around their own SEPA/grading fees under our process." Id. She stated that it is "ill-advised" to allow "large scale projects to be squeezed into a process designed for small scale projects with minimal impact to surrounding resources." Id.9 The cribwall project required ripping five acres of trees out by their roots (App. B 2), which conservatively would equal 653,000 square feet of sediment.¹⁰ The size and scale of the cribwall project violated public health and safety and resulted in 43 fatalities.

⁹ The cribwall project contained hundreds of pieces of wood. App. B 1 (five construction photographs). Two photographs have men in them (CP 41; CP 1402) which we have highlighted to provide the scale of the project.

¹⁰ Division One erroneously referred to this work as "clear cutting." (Op. 16). The trees were removed with their rootballs intact in order to encourage their growth elsewhere. Rootballs are several feet deep in the soil. An acre has 43,560 square feet multiplied by 5 acres is 217,800 square feet. Conservatively assuming a three-foot depth for the rootballs, the tree removal resulted in 653,000 cubic feet of sediment removal.

2. Three of the Petitioner Families Were Riparian Owners and the County Recognized the Project's Hazardous Conditions.

Division One did not analyze or discuss whether riparian law can apply in a wrongful death case involving the rerouting of a river. AOB, pp. 28-37. Its analysis was procedurally and substantively flawed because it erroneously held the evidence insufficient to prove all four of the Appellants were "riparian owners," (Op. 17), and adopted an argument advanced by the County for the first time on appeal. *White v. Kent Medical Ctr. Inc.*, 61 Wn. App. 163, 810 P.2d 4 (1999). ¹¹ The County's own map shows three of the families were on the River with only the Regelbrugges' property inland. App. B 3 (CP 2272). The Complaint identifies all of the Appellants' tax parcels. Those adjacent to the River are irrefutably riparian owners. CP 2954-2956. Riparian law applies for at least three of the four Appellants.

The trial court held riparian law did not apply, the claims of all the Appellants would proceed under negligence but then clarified they were barred by immunity. CP 2936-7. However, it is anomalous to have the wrongful deaths of Commander and Mrs. Regelbrugge governed by negligence law because they were not adjacent to the River. The artificially moved River was enveloped creating the slurry that killed everyone. The slurry did not

¹¹ In the trial court, the County primarily argued that riparian strict liability could not apply in a wrongful death case and that no rights existed because of the water appropriation Codes of 1917 and 1932. CP 2130-4.

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