FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/22/2019 1:37 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 96798-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

GREGORY REGELBRUGGE, et al.,

Appellants,

v.

SNOHOMISH COUNTY,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ADAM CORNELL
Snohomish County Prosecuting Attorney

Joseph B. Genster, WSBA #14968 Michael C. Held, WSBA #19696 Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, MIS #504 Everett, WA 98201 (425) 388-3333

HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP

Timothy G. Leyh, WSBA #14853 Randall Thomsen, WSBA #25310 Kristin Ballinger, WSBA #28253 999 Third Ave., Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 623-1700

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

CP 2759. Even if implemented, the draft policy statement would not have prohibited a fish habitat project with a second purpose. It would have prohibited constructing a second project (such as a hiking trail) under the streamlined permit. *E.g.*, Hr'g on H.B. 2879 Before S. Nat. Res. & Parks Comm'n (Feb. 20, 1998) ("a bridge that would span the entire floodplain and the crick" for the purpose of "creat[ing] access" to a landowner's property would be beyond scope of statute), *audio recording* by TVW, https://www.tvw.org/watch/?eventID=1998021111 at 37:17-38:03.

As in *Snowden v. Kittitas County School District*, 38 Wn.2d 691, 231 P.2d 621 (1951), concerning a similarly worded statute, "[t]here is nothing whatever in the language of the statute indicative of the more restricted scope which" plaintiffs urge. *Id.* at 698. The Court should decline review of these issues.

2. The court did not err in holding plaintiffs' "water law" theory inapplicable (Issue 2).

Plaintiffs pleaded a strict liability "water law" theory predicated on the County's alleged role in the revetment. In addition to holding that the immunity statute barred the strict liability theory (*see* preceding section and Decision at 18), the court held that the claim was otherwise untenable. Plaintiffs pleaded in their complaint that *the County* was a riparian owner,

not that *they* were riparian owners (CP 2993), and their theory of liability was not predicated on ownership of riparian land (CP 2992-93). The court "decline[d] to extend riparian law" to "create[] a right to recover personal injury damages caused by diversion of a river regardless of whether the plaintiffs are riparian landowners." Decision at 17.

Review is not warranted on this issue, and not only because the County is immune (*see supra*), plaintiffs seek expansion of this narrow area of the law, and plaintiffs failed to adduce evidence that they were riparian owners.⁶ Review is unwarranted because, even if riparian law were at issue, the standard would be negligence, not strict liability.

Riparian law imposes strict liability only in the narrow circumstance where (1) a party obstructs or diverts a river and (2) that obstruction causes flooding or erosion (3) of riparian property. In that circumstance, the party is negligent as a matter of law, *i.e.*, strictly liable, for the property damage caused. *Johnson v. Sultan Ry. & Timber Co.*, 145 Wash. 106, 108-09, 258 P. 1033 (1927). In all other circumstances,

_

⁶ Proving riparian ownership requires more than proof that one's property is adjacent to a river. See Richert v. Tacoma Power Util., 179 Wn. App. 694, 703, 319 P.3d 882 (2014) (damages are recoverable under a riparian rights theory only if the "riparian rights still exist," i.e., were in existence as of 1917 and used by 1932). Plaintiffs include as Appendix B3 and B6 documents not part of the record to belatedly try to present evidence they were riparian owners, apparently in response to the Court of Appeals' holding that plaintiffs' "assert[ion], in a footnote," that some were "riparian owners" lacked sufficient evidentiary basis. Decision 17. These documents, which were not part of the record, are not "evidence" and should be stricken. See footnote 4, supra.

negligence principles apply. *E.g., Sund v. Keating*, 43 Wn.2d 36, 40-46, 259 P.2d 1113 (1953) (negligence, not "absolute" liability, applied where defendants' actions weakened river bank leading to flooding); *Nielson v. King County*, 72 Wn.2d 720, 724-25, 435 P.2d 664 (1967) (rejecting argument that diversion of stream "is actionable both with or without proof of negligence").

Ronkosky v. City of Tacoma, 71 Wash. 148, 128 P. 2 (1912), and Fitzpatrick v. Okanogan County, 169 Wn.2d 598, 238 P.3d 1129 (2010), cited by plaintiffs, are not to the contrary. Ronkosky did not involve riparian rights, applied a negligence standard, and did not involve personal injury or death. 71 Wash. at 152-54. Fitzpatrick involved an inverse condemnation claim, not a tort (see 169 Wn.2d at 605) making its analysis inapposite to the issues presented here. The trial court in Fitzpatrick had already dismissed the "riparian" tort claims (id.) finding them barred by Flood Control Act immunity (see Fitzpatrick, Resp. Brief, 2006 WL 6288121, at *4 (July 10, 2006)) just as plaintiffs' claims here are barred by Fish Habitat Projects immunity (see supra) and Flood Control Act immunity (see infra). Finally, "[a]n inverse condemnation claim is 'an action . . . brought to recover the value of property," 169 Wn.2d at 605 (emphasis added) (citation omitted), meaning, "[h]ad there been children in the Fitzpatrick house who died as it was swept away," as plaintiffs posit

(Pet. 15 n.12), the claim would not have compensated for that loss.

The trial court held that even if riparian rights were at issue, the standard would be negligence, not strict liability, the Court of Appeals left that holding intact, and plaintiffs do not seek review of that issue. It does not matter whether the claim is called "riparian law" or not. If plaintiffs' claim were otherwise tenable, negligence (not strict liability) would apply.

3. Additional bases support dismissal of this claim.

Review also is not warranted because additional bases support the dismissal of the claim, making review futile. But, if the Court reviews any issue regarding this claim, the Court should review these bases as well.

a. The County cannot be liable for a project funded, designed, permitted, constructed, inspected, and maintained entirely by others (Issue 3).

Contrary to plaintiffs' mistaken statement otherwise (Pet. 1), the Court of Appeals did not reach the question of whether "the County's involvement in building the cribwall was sufficient to give rise to liability." Decision at 13 (question "may be a factual issue"). Plaintiffs presented inconsequential facts⁷ to argue the County was involved but

⁷ An analysis of those facts is at the County's opening brief below, including the fact that most of the County's "involvement" was in its governmental role. Resp. Brief, pp. 30-31 & nn. 27-33 (Oct. 6, 2017). Plaintiffs did not appeal the trial court's dismissal of claims predicated on those actions as barred by the public duty doctrine (see CP 4684, 4705) and cannot now rely on them to establish a duty. See Hoffer v. State, 110 Wn.2d 415, 422, 755 P.2d 781 (1988) (distinguishing between proprietary and non-proprietary acts of

have never established why the County could bear legal liability for a project funded, designed, permitted, constructed, inspected, and maintained by others. Unlike in *Borden v. City of Olympia*, where the city "was engaging in a proprietary function" by designing, engineering, and paying for the project, 113 Wn. App. 359, 371, 53 P.3d 1020 (2002), plaintiffs offered no evidence that the County did anything of the sort.

Plaintiffs continue to argue that the inverse condemnation standard of *Phillips v. King County*, 136 Wn.2d 946, 968 P.2d 871 (1998), applies to their tort claim. It does not. Inverse condemnation requires that the government acted with a public purpose in taking private property, which was "satisfie[d]" in *Phillips* because the county "allow[ed] the use of public land to convey the subdivision's storm water" onto plaintiffs' property. *Id.* at 967. Negligence requires "a duty of care running from the defendant to the plaintiff," which the Court of Appeals found lacking, 87 Wn. App. 468, 481-82, 943 P.2d 306 (1997), and which ruling this Court declined to review, 136 Wn.2d at 950. The Court of Appeal's holding in *Phillips* that the facts were insufficient to maintain a negligence claim remains good law. Thus, *Phillips* underscores that inverse condemnation and negligence claims require different proof, and evidence sufficient for

government as determining applicability of public duty doctrine).

one may be insufficient for the other.

But even if the inverse condemnation analysis in *Phillips* were applicable to a tort claim as plaintiffs argue, they did not meet that test because "active, proprietary participation—participation *without which the alleged taking or damaging would not have occurred*—... is required under *Phillips* before liability can attach." *Halverson v. Skagit County*, 139 Wn.2d 1, 13, 983 P.2d 643 (1999). Plaintiffs presented no evidence that, had the County not done what it allegedly did, the Tribe's project would not have been built.

At every step the Tribe, not the County, made decisions about the design, construction, siting, and maintenance of the project; the State and federal government, not the County, approved the project; and the State, not the County, paid for it. The County's actions, construing every inference in plaintiffs' favor, do not evidence that the County had *any* authority over, responsibility for, or even a say in the project. Because no individual could be liable for the Tribe's project if it had done what the County did, the claim fails. *See Robb v. City of Seattle*, 176 Wn.2d 427, 438, 295 P.3d 212 (2013) (government has no duty "to foresee and eliminate dangers everywhere"); RCW 4.96.010 (municipal entity liable only "to the same extent as if [it] were a private person").

If the Court grants review, the Court should review this issue as an independent basis to affirm the decisions below.

b. Flood Control Act immunity applies given the unrebutted evidence that the revetment also was designed to prevent flooding (Issue 4).

The Court of Appeals also did not reach the question of whether the revetment was built as a flood prevention project, immunizing the County under RCW 86.12.037. The Flood Control Act bars all claims against the County relating to the Tribe's revetment. It provides:

No action shall be brought or maintained against any county . . . for any noncontractual acts or omissions of such county . . . relating to the improvement, protection, regulation, and control for flood prevention and navigation purposes of any river or its tributaries and the beds, banks, and waters thereof

RCW 86.12.037. In *Paulson v. Pierce County*, 99 Wn.2d 645, 664 P.2d 1202 (1983), the Court recognized the statute's broad application, stating it was to "shield counties from liability for their efforts to protect the public from flood damage." *Id.* at 649.

From its inception, the Tribe intended the revetment to reduce flooding in addition to enhancing fish habitat. The design proposal for the Tribe and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers discussed that the 1967 landslide had destroyed houses, stated that a "1967 event may be imminent" which would "divert [river] flow through an inhabited floodplain," and suggested the revetment in part because this flooding

hazard "emphasize[d] the need for immediate action." CP 170-71.

Six years later, the 2006 landslide caused just such a flood. The Tribe explicitly incorporated the objective of reducing flooding risks into its permit application, revised the project design to further address the flood hazard, removed a stand of trees to widen the river in pursuit of that objective it, and concluded, "[o]nce the proposed project is completed, flooding will be reduced." CP 139-40, 248, 250, 262-63.

The trial court found a fact dispute about whether flood immunity applied, because the "first page" of the Tribe's application "only identifies fish habitat rehabilitation as the purpose of the project." CP 1511. But the trial court's focus on the first page ignored that the first page was a State form. CP 245. As described above, the project also was intended to reduce flooding risks (e.g., CP 171 ("[r]educe floodplain encroachment" listed in the proposal as a "project objective")) and the permit application described how the project was designed to reduce flooding risks (e.g., CP 250 (the January 2006 landslide "has confined the river such that a large scale flood event will likely result in some flooding of homes"); CP 248 (tree removal to reduce likelihood that "a 2-year recurrence flow will cause flooding of [occupied] adjacent properties"; "[o]nce the proposed project is completed, flooding will be reduced")).

Plaintiffs allege that the Tribe's decision to remove trees to facilitate the widening of the river and prevent flooding made the Oso Landslide more deadly. Apps.' Brief, pp. 13-14 (July 31, 2017). Because the Tribe removed the trees expressly to "improve[]" the river for "flood prevention," RCW 86.12.037, the County is immune. If the County potentially bears liability for the project based on its alleged involvement, then it is entitled to immunity given the project's goal to reduce flooding.

C. Review Is Not Warranted because Plaintiffs' Appeal Was Untimely (Issue 5).

Review also is unwarranted because the Court of Appeals should have dismissed plaintiffs' appeal as untimely. If review is granted, the Court should review this issue, either by designating it as an issue as to which review is granted or by granting a motion to dismiss.

In September 2016, the trial court entered a final CR 54(b) judgment dismissing all claims plaintiffs made against the County (the September Judgment). Their notice of appeal was due 30 days later (see RAP 2.2(d), RAP 5.2(a)), but plaintiffs did not file it until January 2017. In that notice, plaintiffs designated the September Judgment and the earlier interlocutory orders leading to it. They did not designate a later December 2016 order, a stipulated order dismissing the third and last

defendant as part of a settlement agreement (the December Order),⁸ and twice have affirmed that that omission was purposeful.⁹

RAP 2.4(b) allows the court to review an earlier order in a timely appeal from a later order, but only if that earlier order prejudicially affected the latter. Neither predicate is present here. Unlike in *Fox v*.

Sunmaster Products, Inc., 115 Wn.2d 498, 798 P.2d 808 (1990), plaintiffs did not appeal a later order, meaning RAP 2.4(b) was not even implicated. Nor could they have. Also unlike in *Fox*, the trial court did not enter any later order relating to the County from which plaintiffs could appeal, let alone one that was prejudicially affected by the CR 54(b) judgment. ¹⁰

If the Court grants review, the Court should correct the Court of Appeals' misapplication of *Fox* to confirm that while a party does not "automatically lose the right to appellate review of" a CR 54(b) judgment "by failing to file a notice of appeals within 30 days," *Fox*, 115 Wn.2d at 505 (emphasis added), the corollary is also true: a party does not always

-

⁸ The notice had a typographical error, identifying an interlocutory December 2015 order as having issued in December 2016. *See* Mot. Discr. Rev., App. 53, 55 (July 31, 2017).

⁹ Mot. Discr. Rev., App. 159 (July 31, 2017); Answer at 3 (Aug. 31, 2017).

¹⁰ An earlier order "prejudicially affects" a later order only if "the order appealed from would not have happened but for the first order." *Right-Price Recreation, LLC v. Connells Prairie Cmty. Council*, 146 Wn.2d 370, 380, 46 P.3d 789 (2002). Compare *Fox*, where, at the end of the case, the trial court entertained a motion to reinstate a defendant who had been earlier dismissed, with here, where plaintiffs advised the trial court in September 2016 that, having "dismissed their last claim against [the] County... no jurisdiction exists as to their case against the County in the trial court." Mot. Discr. Rev., App. 5 (July 31, 2017).

have two opportunities to appeal from a CR 54(b) judgment. Litigants routinely seek CR 54(b) judgments to carve out of the case those parties or claims for which judgment is final. The action as to parties or claims subject to the CR 54(b) judgment is "terminate[d]" and cannot be revised by the trial court. CR 54(b). A prevailing party who secured a final judgment but must wait to defend the judgment until the conclusion of the entire case will suffer the precise "injustice of a delay" that the rule was meant to prevent. Doerflinger v. New York Life Ins. Co., 88 Wn.2d 878, 880, 567 P.2d 230 (1977) (citation omitted); see also Schiffman v. Hanson Excavating Co., 82 Wn.2d 681, 686, 513 P.2d 29 (1973) (sufficient findings are required "since the time for appeal begins to run from the entry of an order that meets the requirements of the rule." (citation omitted)). The Court of Appeals misapplied Fox, and the issue is perfectly framed for clarification because the parties agree that the September Judgment did not prejudicially affect the December Order.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should deny review.